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SUMMARY Stuart Palmer MCIfA 

In 2010, Archaeology Warwickshire were commissioned to undertake an excavation 

on the site proposed for a new church on Parkside, Coventry. The site lay between the 

medieval city wall and the road to London and previous evaluation had suggested that 

significant medieval remains could be present despite the street frontage having been 

removed for road widening in the early 20th century. 

 
The excavations recovered evidence for a series of building plots, probably set out in 

the 13th century but not developed until the 14th century. In the 15th century the plots of 

two included stone founded timber framed rear wings used as artisanal workshops. 

These were dilapidated by the 17th century but documents show the frontage was 

entirely redeveloped c1711, when it became The Three Swans Inn. 

 
Shortly after the post-excavation process was underway it became evident that the 

requisite funding for full analysis and publication would not be forthcoming. Rather than 

see it abandoned, Archaeology Warwickshire determined to self-fund dissemination 

focussing on a few key research themes (Egan 2007; Hunt 2011) which the excavated 

and documentary data could hope to address. Iain Soden was therefore tasked with 

ógetting to the nub of what makes this site stand out and what makes it different?ô 

 
The report focuses therefore on an early 16th century occupant of the site, a pinner, 

probably John Garton, his workshop, his diet and the end of his career when the tools 

of his trade, debris and stock was strewn about his workshop and deliberately dumped 

in a pit just outside. The pottery he used at table and in his kitchen is barely discernible 

from that of his immediate predecessors and his successors, but a dearth of popular 

drinking mugs suggests he may not have been much given to drinking. The presence 

of chafing dishes suggests he or his neighbours were nevertheless acquainted with 

fashionable contemporary dining habits. Gartonôs Coventry was part of an England 

experiencing great change. He was perhaps one of the cityôs last medieval inhabitants, 

on the threshold of a revolution. John Gartonôs next door neighbour seems to have 

pursued the trade of a skinner, for a time, lining garments with soft rabbit fur and 

minniver (squirrel fur possibly from Russia), although this may have been short-lived 

in the difficult, uncertain economic swell of the 1520s. He was suitably pious at a time 

when religious observance and both its public and private face was to come under 

close scrutiny and eventually great change. 
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1 INTRODUCTION Stuart Palmer MCIfA 

1.1 Careering around Coventryôs Ringway St Johnôs, simultaneously mis-reading exit 

signs and the elastic space between more seasoned commuters, a driver might catch 

a glimpse of a curving wall of sky-blue glass folding abruptly around what since around 

1900 has been the aptly-named Short Street. This diminutive link runs from the historic 

thoroughfare of Much Park Street, gateway to the City from London, to the adjacent 

Parkside, aligned along the medieval town wall and ditch for perhaps a hundred 

metres. The historic Much Park Street frontage is now marked solely by the much- 

altered, timber-framed former Admiral Lord Rodney pub, now proudly sporting the 

façade of a popular nightclub. 

 
1.2 Overshadowing the timber-framed pub, the gleaming glass-wall of óThe Welcome 

Centreô for Christian Life Ministries, completed in 2011, was the impetus for a 

programme of archaeological exploration whose ambition was to recover traces of 

medieval Coventry and draw out the lives of Coventrians past. What follows is a 

distillation of the enormous amount of data meticulously teased from the ground from 

archaeological contexts that define individual events, and from artefacts and ecofacts, 

the sign-posts of material culture and economic activity. This archaeological archive 

was then tested against the historic documents treasured in local archives to ferment 

a tale (possibly) of John Garton, a pinner, and his neighbour and how they fared in 

Coventry in the 1520s, against the backdrop of the city wall, a literal stones-throw from 

the great royal hunting park of Cheylesmore. 

 
1.3 Preluding and indeed concluding our tale is the founding of the above church on 

Parkside, one of a number emerging to service population influx in the industrially- 

minded city in the years before and after WWII. Piecemeal acquisitions since the war 

culminated in their 21st century desire to expand across a number of former and derelict 

properties. In considering the application (Planning Ref 21449/G) Coventry City 

Councilôs then planning archaeologist Chris Patrick identified the site as retaining 

archaeological potential and required the church to provide further information as to 

the archaeological significance of the site. Site evaluation by the former Birmingham 

Archaeology (2010) identified surviving medieval and post-medieval remains worthy of 

excavation and preservation by record. 
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1.4 In 2010 Archaeology Warwickshire (formerly Warwickshire Museum Field 

Archaeology) were commissioned to undertake an excavation of the site proposed for 

development, which, on the basis of the evaluation results, had the specific aims of - 

recovering as much information as possible on the origins, date, development, 

phasing, spatial organisation, character, function, status, significance and the nature 

of social, economic and industrial activities on site. Indubitably worthy aims such as 

these are an archaeologistôs grist but very often also a discomfiture when not realised. 

 
1.5 The excavations began in March 2010 under the direction of this author (Stuart 

Palmer). The levels of archaeological preservation on site were such that the field team 

worked cloaked in a sense of privilege; it didnôt even rain that much! The team were 

regaled from neighbouring residences and provided guided tours for local witnesses: 

the expectations for an illuminating report were high. After 40 working days it was 

completed to the satisfaction of the planning authority and the project moved into a 

post-excavation phase. Artefacts and environmental samples were processed and 

assessed and analysis proceeded until the point that the client, the churchôs 

construction team, collapsed amidst widescale economic recession and hence 

invoices went unpaid. 

 
1.6 Since it began in earnest in 1991, commercial archaeology has been susceptible to 

the ebb and flow of economic fortune, to boom and bust and overextending. The 

practise is for some a luxury, the unnecessary icing on the heritage-cake. 

Consequently, despite the preliminary assessment of the results clearly demonstrating 

the high value of the excavated assemblages, the prospect of acquiring a source of 

funding to complete the works to the level originally hoped for rapidly diminished. 

 
1.7 Faced with such a dilemma, Archaeology Warwickshire determined to find a way to do 

justice to the archaeological resource which would otherwise remain as a collection of 

finds boxes, records and plans in store. The ensuing plan brought Iain Soden into the 

picture to distil the results of the excavation into a presentable report. Since he is a 

Coventrian and has spent much of his career since 1984 both working in and regularly 

revisiting many aspects of the cityôs archaeology, both in the field and in print, the 

choice of Iain was straightforward. 

 
1.8 Iainôs brief was therefore to get to the nub of what makes this site stand out. What 

makes it different? This, as will be seen, is something which has taxed those who have 
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been charged with characterising medieval urban archaeology in recent years and 

establishing where the professionôs priorities might lie. Faced with any number of 

redeveloped medieval frontages, how can a site with no surviving frontage, lacking its 

(very prominent) town wall boundary also, and with only two out of six plots 

substantially represented by both buildings, yards and garden, be said to contribute to 

furthering our understanding of Coventryôs history and archaeology? 
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2 MUCHPARKSTREETôSSOUTHSIDE-AHISTORYOFTHEROW 

 
The descent of the land 

c1300-1400 

2.1 In this early period of the streetôs development, nothing can be taken for granted and 

the most to be hoped for is a snapshot of a succession of interests which may 

sometimes relate the name or interest of a plot and its neighbour or neighbours in the 

form of an abuttal. It is a period in which the town wall was first constructed, so any 

property on the south side of Much Park Street ought, in theory have as a rear abuttal, 

firstly the park of the Earls of Chester, with its ditch, bank with hedge from at least 1237 

(the date of the death of the 7th and last independent earl), followed by the Town Wall 

and its gates from the late fourteenth century. 

 
2.2 In fact the earliest and best reference which details an ideal location just as one might 

hope for is a charter of 1298 in which William Copstone, a chaplain, (who founded an 

[archaeologically excavated] chantry in the Benedictine Cathedral) gave to John le 

Whyteleye, merchant, and his wife Margery, a messuage towards óle mulnestonesô , 

between land which Geoffrey le Lef once held and that which Simon Russell did, 

extending from the highway to Sir Robert de Montaltôs park (CA: BA/H/8/82/1; cited in 

Coss 1986, doc no 160,p112). As an adjacent plot óLe mulnestonesô or óThe mill stonesô 

are met with in only one other document, later in 1338, but there too they are related 

to the Whyteley family who held it, in that case just Margery (presumably as a widow) 

(Coss 1980 doc 322, p78). The name of the plot, which at that date may have straddled 

both sides of where the town wall would one day be built, may relate to a field in which 

millstones were quarried, some millstones left stacked in the street which were a local 

landmark, or perhaps a shed-load on the corner or could equally be either the name of 

a tavern or perhaps an urban mill. Perhaps the first of these, back from the frontage 

is the most likely. A tavern or horse- or foot-mill are more likely to have continued to 

generate documentary references; a happenstance temporary landmark was less 

likely. And indeed the stones are never heard of in documents again. While it may be 

suggested that this property is close to Jordan Well and backed onto the original park 

boundary (thought to be the Red- or Hyrsum-ditch hereabouts), not only does it lack 

explicit reference to those features but the Whyteley plot crops up again in 1308 

(below) and a clearer descent begins to appear. 
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2.3 So at least there is a reference to a short row of three premises: the 

Copstone/Whyteleye messuage and their neighbours Geoffrey Le Lef and Simon 

Russell at the end of the 13th century. In 1308 the abovementioned Whyteleye 

messuage crops up again in an abuttal, but possibly on the other side this time when 

a charter records the passage of a messuage from Joan, widow of John Lewyne to her 

daughter Margaret (CA: BA/H/8/276/1). This was said to lie between the tenement 

held by William Weston (son of Richard) and that held by the draper William de 

Whyteley (son of John). Significantly, it will be seen from the document reference that 

this is the first occurrence in the excavated row of a document deriving from what would 

become a Holy Trinity Guild (HTG) holding (CA: BA/H). 

 
2.4 Geoffrey le Lef and William Whyteleye both crop up from around 1280 in the cityôs 

Hundred Rolls when they already held property in the immediate area (2 cottages and 

1 cottage, respectively) from Geoffrey de Langley of Shortley who held his lands of the 

(by then Royal) manor of Cheylesmore (Coss 1986, 385). 

 
In summary a row of four (reading west to east) is postulated thus, although which four 

is unclear: 

1298  Formerly 
Geoffrey le Lef 
(west ) 

Wm Copstone to John 
de Whyteleye and 
Margery his wife 
óle mulnestones 
adjacentô 

Formerly Simon 
Rusell (east) 

BA/H/8/82/1 
óLe 
Mulnestonesô 

1308 Richard de 
Weston, Wm de 
Weston (west) 

John Lewyn, 
Margaret Lewyn 

Wm de Whyteleye 
(east) 

 BA/H/8/276/1 

1338   óle mulnestonesô still in 
Whyteleye family 
hands 

 Coss 1980, 
doc 322, p78 

 
 

2.5 In 1349 Cheylesmore Park, previously much encroached-upon and barely 

acknowledged by high-status properties at the city end of Much Park Street which ate 

into its old boundary, was described as newly-enclosed, or perhaps re-enclosed, a 

retrenchment of the requirements of park-lore with newly-agreed boundaries (SBT 

DR10/350). This is presumably its new and final boundary, well south of the 

administrative line of the so-called Red- or Hyrsum-Ditch, and where within a 

generation the Town Wall would be built to fossilize the arrangement between city and 

manor. 
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2.6 By 1393 the Town Wall hereabouts had indeed been constructed. In the foundation 

grants to the Holy Trinity Guild is a messuage, occupied by Robert Littleman, with two 

shops (which were very probably rather ramshackle affairs) either side, and a garden, 

lying between a tenement sometime John de Keresleyôs and one belonging to John de 

Schepeyeôs chantry, extending from Much Park Street to the Town Wall (CA: 

BA/B/16/14/5; ah). This house belonged to the Holy Trinity Guild in 1393, and was 

presumably among the Holy Trinity Guild possessions that passed to the Corporation 

after the Guilds and Chantries were dissolved in the 1540s. 

 
2.7 Around the second half of the fourteenth century a row of five properties (reading west 

to east) can be discerned, if only tentatively. Again it is not clear which five, or quite 

how each relates to the earlier block of four, thus: 

  Holy Trinity 
Guild plot 

 Benedictine 
Priory interest 

  

1343   Nicholas de 
Baxterley, 
formerly Henry att 
Murye, senior 

  BA/H/8/136/1 

1349 Ric de 
Keresley 

 Once Jordan 
Shepeyôs 

Wm Freberne, 
formerly of Thos 
son of Nichlas 
Crompe, Rob 
Fyssher and Ellis 
Freberne 

 BA/B/16/292/17 
?previously 
misidentified? 
Cheylesmore Park 
abuttal 

1366   John de Schepey 
to John de 
Pappenham 

  BA/H/8/137/1 

1386 Once 
Ric de 
Keresley 
ôs 

John de Toftes 
and John 
Pomfret to 
Robert Littleman 

Once Jordan 
Schepeyôs 

  BA/B/16/303/1 
(also 
BA/B/16/292/26 
?previously 
misidentified - note 
the abuttals) 

1392    Simon (Freberne) 
holds of the crown 
as of 
Cheylesmore 
Manor 

 PA468/5/3/59/1 
Royal gift of 2 
tenements to new 
HTG 

1393 John de 
Keresley 

Robert Littleman 
(HTG 
Foundation 
Endowment) 
messuage with 
2 shops either 
side 

John de 
Schepeyôs 
Chantry land 

  BA/B/16/14/5 (ah) 
Town Wall abuttal 

1393 HTG foundation endowment 
of garden behind plots 

   BA/B/16/14/5 (ah) 
Town wall abuttal 

1411  Vacant plot once 
owned by 
Schepey, 
occupied by John 
Yate 

Widow of Simon 
Freberne, formerly 
Ellis Freberne 

John 
Hurley 

Coss 2013, 161.5. 
Town wall abuttal 
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2.8 When in 1410-11 the Benedictine Cathedral Priory put together its rental/cartulary, its 

holdings and rents on Much Park Street were included. One property backed onto the 

Town Wall south of Much Park Street and is seen in Dr Nat Alcockôs published street- 

reconstruction (in Coss and Lancaster Lewis 2013, 38; plan 7 and doc 161.5). It notes 

a messuage owned by the widow of Simon Freberne (and at least one generation of 

Frebernes beforehand), flanked by John Hurley on the east and a vacant plot of John 

Schepey (and his heirs) on the west, the latter held by John Yate, cordwainer. To the 

east there is a break in ownership and tenancy, while to the west further data is lacking. 

 
2.9 For the period of most of the fifteenth and into the sixteenth centuries we must rely 

upon a mixture of Holy Trinity Guild rentals, incomplete 1520s censuses and the 

Coventry Leet Book in a somewhat circular óargumentô to associate use with tenancy 

of the principal excavated back-plot and its neighbours. It is however, an argument 

not without merit. 

 
2.10 It is clear that the excavated rear wing of no 95 includes the remains of a pinnerôs 

workshop, together with pits containing the waste of the pinning industry nearby. 

 
2.11 For much of the fifteenth and early sixteenth centuries a succession of pinners, but 

only ever one at a time, appear in the Coventry Leet Book on Much Park Street, as 

making contributions to the cityôs coffers for various purposes, as follows (Dormer 

Harris, 1907-13): 

 
 

Date Dormer Harris 

(1907-13) page: 

Hulton 1999 

page: 

Name Occupation given Named for Much 

Park St in.. 

1435 179  John Bailey Pinner Kingôs Loan 

1444 212  John Ravon Pinner Kingôs Loan 

1449 251  John Ravon Pinner Armoury list 

1522  59 John Garton* Pinner Muster roll 

*John Garton occupied one plot, his landlord unrecorded by (possibly unknown to) the 

enumerator in the cityôs 1522 muster roll, but was recorded as owning the adjacent plot, 

tenanted by John Merlor, a weaver. Garton was said at the time to be physically unfit to serve 

in the militia; (see below). 

 

2.12 It is reasonable to suggest that since only one pinner appears in these lists for Much 

Park Street at any one time, each was working from (and probably resident at) the 

principal excavated rear wing of what would become 95 Much Park Street. If privately- 
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owned, it was probably not at this stage within the purview of the Holy Trinity Guild 

whose property on this stretch of the street had been noted from 1393. The HTG plot 

must be one of those adjacent, as will be seen below. 

 
2.13 From 1485 we have largely a mixture of Holy Trinity Guild rentals and later city-wide 

census-type records from which to gauge the streetôs makeup until 1534. Already by 

1485 it was increasingly a time of great hardship for many people in Coventry and the 

entire city was in the economic doldrums, in a perfect storm of a national crisis in the 

woollen textile industry combined with an agricultural slump, although more recent 

research has made it clear that the pervading gloom does lift somewhat if one 

considers the city on a plot-by-plot basis, with wide variations within the overall 

downturn (Phythian-Adams 1979; Leech 2009). For anyone trying to trace plots and 

buildings, the issue is fraught with vacancies ï and plummeting rents as tenants moved 

around suddenly to lower their payments, abandonments and even demolitions. The 

years 1518-1525 were the nadir of this downturn, but which led to a very long slow 

recovery, hindered by the Dissolution of the Monasteries in 1539 and the Guilds and 

Chantries in 1547. It is in this period that we can see the end of a pinning industry on 

the excavated plot, and potentially a period of abandonment, perhaps leading to some 

demolitions. This period destroys many otherwise long documentary threads and 

individual plots designated one way in the medieval period, disappear and re-emerge 

with entirely different threads beginning. It can be an (almost) new topography. 

 
2.14 The appearance and swift disappearance of John Garton, pinner, relating to two 

adjacent tenements in the 1522 musters can be seen to provide a likely documentary 

link with no 95 Much Park Street and one of his neighbours (it would seem to be 94). 

While it is not absolutely certain, at least no better links have been found. That one plot 

has a pinnerôs workshop (95) and pits containing pinnerôs waste are also found close 

by. It does seem more than coincidental, while the (tentative) identification of no 94 

with a (possibly) long-lived 10s annual rent on a street with an otherwise wide variety 

of rent-values (see John Bull, below), adds weight to the argument. It is thus plausible 

that Garton lived for a time on one plot, paying 10s rent and worked from that next 

door, where he also had a tenant paying him 6s per annum. 

 
2.15 Phythian-Adamsô work on the cityôs difficulties included a survey of occupations in the 

households of the city, ward by ward (Phythian-Adams 1979, appendix 3c, table 38). 

There he shows that of the metal crafts, only two pinners of note survived in the city 
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after 1524, both in the adjacent Jordan Well Ward. By 1524, there were none at all 

listed in Much Park Street Ward. On the excavated plots, the last of three pinners, 

probably John Garton, had ceased manufacture (probably at no 95) between 1522 and 

1523, allegedly infirm, perhaps due to age or injury (he was said in his entry for 1522 

in Hulton (1999) to be unfit to serve in the militia, which was listed for ages 16-60). 

 
2.16 The 1581 survey of Coventry Corporation property (BA/A/1/2/3) is particularly 

significant here, since the city owned a series of four adjoining properties, which can 

be identified with the houses from 92-3 to 98-9 Much Park Street. 

 
 

Ref/estate Rent Description Location 

16.1 

[=20.6] 

Wardens 

3s 4d There is within New Gate a cottage & a garden i.t. Widow Blevyn, on S 

side of street & a cottage or ten with a garden on N side, i.t. ï 

Shingleton. Mr Kevett holds & pays to city 3s 4d quit rent. Qu How Mr 

Kevett holds this land 

near 

Newgate 

16.2 

[=20.7] 

Wardens 

2s Four cottages or tens lying together, breadth by street 20 yds, cont 4 ½ 

bays & a shore, 10 yds long & 4 gdns on backside, length from houses 

29 yds, breadth all together, 20 yds as the houses be. Orchard at the 

end of them, extending to the town wall. Bounds: Mr Kevett (E); Mr 

Nicolls (W). [=20.6] 

about 85 

MPS 

  [Mr Nicholls] 

[Randle Harwar] 

[unknown] 

90-91 

16.3 

[=21.1] 

G&C 

8s. Two tenements together, Griffin Lewes & Amye Haywood, breadth by 

street 9½ yds, 2 bays, a little bay & a little shore. Garden belonging to 

Griffins House, length from house 29 yds, breadth through 5 yds. 

Bounds Randle Harwar (E) 

At backside of Amye Haywoodôs house there is an alley, length from 

house 29 yds, leading to an orchard belonging to the same house, 

length from twon wall 20 yds, breadth 6 ½ yds. Bounds Randle Harwar 

(E); City (W) 

92-3 MPS 

16.4 

[=21.2] 

G&C 

14s Tenement adjoining last [l6.3] i.t. Roger Barton, length by street 8 ½ 

yds, 7 bays & a shore, orchard on backside extending to town wall, 

breadth 11 yds. Bounds: City on both sides 

94-5 MPS 

16.5 

[=21.3] 

G&C 

10s Adjoins to same [16.4]. i.t. John Rogerson, length by street 7 yds, 5 

bays. It has an inner court 13 yds long, 7 yds wide. Garden on backside 

extends to town wall lengthways, breadth 7 yds. Bounds: City on both 

sides 

96-7 MPS 

17.1 

[=21.4] 

G&C 

20s Adjoining above [16.5] i.t. Griffin Lewes, breadth by street 13½ yds, 14 

bays of building. Garden & orchard on backside from house to town 

wall, length 18 yds & as much in breadth. Bounds: Mr Over (W); Cityôs 

land (E). 

Standards, cistern of lead, 3 ft 11 in breadth, depth 4 ft, length 6 ft, one 

brewing lead 4 ½ ft by 2 ½ ft deep. 

98-9 MPS 

  [Mr Over] CCA/2/3/466. 1799-1878 100 MPS 

  Holy Trinity Church [house behind 104-6 MPS] 101-3 MPS 

17.2  E end house at corner of Dead Lane [HT Church ho behind it] 104-6 MPS 
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2.17 Other than this, the people whose names had become associated with the south side 

of the street mostly fall silent in documents and it is not for some time that this row of 

properties once again becomes more easily discernible (if not wholly visible). It is not 

beyond reason to suggest that some buildings at least may have been shut up 

untenanted; some of these may have been demolished. 

 
The post-medieval descent of Nos 96, 97, 98 and 99 Much Park Street 

2.18 The plot which became no 98-9, if not the actual building, can be traced at this stage. 

In 1671 it was said to be formerly of Richard Dixon and Dorcas Parnell (CA: 

BA/B/16/313/4); other than her interesting name, Parnell is otherwise silent, but Dixon, 

in occupation since at least 1654, provides an abuttal to the adjacent messuage in that 

earlier year (CA: BA/A/4/81/1). 

 
2.19 That 1654 abuttal relates to the neighbouring messuage, which was sold by the city to 

John Gamble, fuller, occupied by (the late) John Rogerson and John Gamble (on the 

south side of MPS), between the tenement held by Richard Dixon (above) and one 

held by Nicholas Burton. It was said to comprise one bay at the front, two behind and 

two bays of barning beyond a court, the barning and court extending to the town wall, 

and being 7 yards wide. Burtonôs widow crops up again in a 1683 release 

(BA/D/1/19/9). 

 
2.20 The 7-yard frontage dimension of 1683, transposed to the 1886 1st edition 1:500 scale 

Ordnance Survey map and measured at scale make it clear that the plot exactly 

covered both nos 96 and 97 together. This width corresponds to the whole of the grant 

to John Gamble in 1654 (CA: BA/A/4/81/1). 

 
2.21 In 1671 the messuage of Nos 98-9 was subdivided and leased to William Hobson 

(silkweaver), which he lived in at the time (CA: BA/B/16/313/4), and John Goddard 

(CA: BA/B/16/313/4-5). There was a garden to the rear which Hobson cultivated. With 

its separate garden, this suggests a strong similarity to the original 1393 Holy Trinity 

Guild foundation endowment of BA/B/16/14/5 (ah), above. 

Table of Holdings in 1581. [Entries identified by page and item number; pp 20=21 repeat pp. 16-17. 

Descriptions given as abstracts not full text]. The first column indicates if the site is part of the former Guild & 

Chantry property, or Wardens (Cityôs own property pre-Dissolution), or part of Wheatleyôs charity 
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Fig 2: A photograph taken between 1900 and 1931 looking south and showing nos 96-7 Much Park St, 

with nos 1-3 Short Street (separated rear wing and converted former outbuildings) behind. The rear 

wing of no 97 (1-2 Short St) is clearly timber-framed, jettied out and brick-nogged, being perhaps of 

15th-17th century date. The frontage of nos 96-97 show all the brickwork and window/doorcase shapes 

typical of the late 18th- to early 19th century and an arrow-straight ridge-line, hardly the stuff of slums 

awaiting clearance. The gable end of the 1711 Three Swans Inn (Nos 94-5) is at far left, apparently 

box-framed with brick-nogging. At far right is 3 Short Street, which stood over an excavated basement 

room. It appears to be of brick, probably itself a re-build. 

 
2.22 In 1697 the lease passed to Thomas Orme, mason, but was occupied by Thomas 

Jackson and William Smith. Orme himself lived on the west in the adjacent dwelling 

(that of Richard Dixon). Hobsonôs late tenancy is referred to in passing (CA: 

BA/B/16/313/2). 

 
2.23 In 1705 the tenancy which Hobson had enjoyed was passed on to Samuel Wareing, 

tailor. Thomas Orme still lived adjacent (on the west). John Goddard remained in 

occupation too (CA: BA/B/16/313/3). The leases demonstrate that No. 98-9 was in 

fact leased, firstly in two sections, then in three, before it was finally all sold to Thomas 

Orme/Arne. 

3 
1-2 97 96 
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Date Owner or lease/chief 

interest 

Occupier Abuttals Ref 

No 98-9     

1654 City Richard Dixon and 
Dorcas Parnell 

 BA/A/4/81/1; 
BA/B/16/313/4 

Hinder part and W of garden    

1671; 1697 City John Goddard sen & jun  BA/B/16/313/4-5 

1697 City John Goddard, Thos 
Jackson and Wm Smith 

 BA/B/16/313/2 

Front and E of Garden [then subdivided]    

1671 City Wm Hobson  BA/B/16/313/4 

Front part W and 1/3 of Garden    

1697-1705 City Thos Orme/Arne, Mason  BA/B/16/313/2 

Front part E    BA/B/16/313/2 

1705 City Sam Wareing Orme (west 
@99) 

BA/B/16/313/3 

Whole [probably]: Fee Farm grant   BA/A/4/81/1 

1716 Sir Thos Whiteôs Charity Thos Arne, - Randle and 
John Goddard 

 Whiteôs charity 
accts 1802, App 
II p179 

1719 Thomas Arne/Orme   BA/B/16/313/2, 5 
[ref to fee farm 
sale] 

1728 Thos Arne, Mason   BA/A/7/2/3 
[assignment of £3 
fee farm rent] 

No 96-7     

1654 John Gamble, Fuller former, John Rogerson; 
John Gamble 

Richard 
Dixon west 
@98-9; 
Nicholas 
Burton east 
@95 

BA/A/4/81/1 Fee 
farm grant 

1709  Wm Parker  PA310/8 

1713  Wm Parker  PA539/1/1 

In the later 19th-century, the one frontage was formally subdivided into two (to become 96-97 Much Park 

Street) 

 
 

The post-medieval descent of No 94-5 Much Park Street, the former medieval 

pinnerôs plot 

2.24 Sometime, probably in the later seventeenth-century, the old and probably much- 

dilapidated buildings on the frontage of no 94-95 were taken down and new ones built. 
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They were described in 1713 as being ónewô in 1711, when they comprised 5 bays with 

a 26 foot frontage, and which constituted a new-build property known as óThe Three 

Swans Innô (CA: PA539/1/1; PA310/8). The property then passed through a number of 

hands as several tenants and mortagees tried with great difficulty to keep the new inn 

on an even keel; some failed. Its street frontage and its backage onto the Town Wall 

were stressed and the usual list of tenants, past and present were related. Equally 

useful are the abuttals, given as John Bull on the east (no 93) and Wm Parker on the 

west (no 96). 

 
2.25 The 26-foot dimension of 1711-13, transposed to the 1886 1st edition 1:500 scale 

Ordnance Survey map and measured at scale make it clear that the plot frontage 

covered both the later nos 94 and 95 together, the plot being divided lengthwise to 

accommodate Court no 22 from before 1851 behind the frontage and the creation 

further back of properties 16-15/42-41 Parkside. 

 
2.26 In 1762 William Greenwood, mason paid £120 for the property to the devisees of the 

late Robert Sanders, Roper. The property comprised a messuage with brewhouse, 

barn, and garden on the south side of Much Park street, and had been successively 

occupied by Richard Warren, William Waters and Henry Toms; it is confirmed as óonceô 

having been the Three Swans Inn and its garden extended to the Town Wall (CA: 

PA553/2/1-2). It was probably an inn for perhaps barely a generation. 

 
2.27 In 1798 a Lancashire Gentleman, John Folds (Senior) of Danser House, Burnley 

inherited the principal interest in the block of property (equating directly to 94 & 95 

Much Park Street) (CA: PA 553/5/1). His father had been William Folds who was the 

elder brother of the late Peggy Greenwood (née Folds). Peggy had married John 

Greenwood of Coventry, son of the above William Greenwood, mason. It seems John 

and Peggy had died without issue and her nephew had benefited. 

 
2.28 In 1834 John Folds (Senior) was fully in possession (CA: PA 583). Although he died in 

1837 he left his estate in the hands of Burnley-based friends to administer his property 

for the benefit of his descendants ï namely his son John Folds II (d1842), John (III) 

(d1858), John Oswald Folds (d1874) and John Henry Folds, aged 21 in 1877. In an 

1878 abstract of title part of the estate was described as in 1861 comprising óa 

messuage on the south side of Much Park Street, once occupied by John Denham, 

Peter Clampfield, Thomas Walker, Joseph Lewin, Joseph Corbett, Thomas Goodall, 



A Tale (possibly) of John Garton, Pinner and his Neighbour in Coventry in the 1520s 

ARCHAEOLOGICAL EXCAVATIONS ON PARKSIDE, COVENTRY, IN 2010 

May 2020 

16 

 

 

 

Thomas Brown and William Palmerô. (CA: PA583/10) The last, William Palmer, was 

living and working 1765-84 (CA:CCA/2/3/181/20d; BA/A/4/85/1). 

 
2.29 In 1878 the Folds Estate, comprising nos 94 and 95 Much Park Street along with nos 

1-5 Court 22, was conveyed to Job Reynolds a Cow Keeper of Coventry (CA: 

PA583/33). Attached was a garden with a dwelling of its own (called Carchester 

Cottage), extending to Coventry Park. Thomas Lower, Paper-hanger who doubled as 

Coventryôs Town Crier (CA: PA506/208/47,48) was then living at no 94, while the 

separate cottage and garden was occupied by William Husselby (CA: PA583/21). 

 
No 94-5 - New in 1711 and known for a while (c1711-25) as óThe Three Swans Innô 

 

Date Owner or 

lease/chief interest 

Occupier Abuttals Ref 

?c1654  Nicholas Burton  PA539/1/1 

1709 Chris Wale Nicholas Burton, Widow 

Tysell and Wm Parker 

John Bull @ east and 

Wm Parker @ west 

PA310/8 

Property rebuilt as The Three Swans Inn (New in 1711) 

1711 Chris Wale   PA310/9 

1713 John Wykes Thos Willes, comber- 

Mortgagee 

 PA539/1/1; 

PA310/11 

1713 John Wykes John Sparkes John Bull @east, Wm 

Parkes @west 

PA539/1/1 

1718 Geo Millward Geo Millward, Innkeeper  PA310/13 

1721- Ric Wareing, 

baker 

Geo Millward, baker and 

Innkeeper and Ric Wareing 

 PA310/14 

-1725  Joseph Ash beerbrewer 

(defaulted) 

 PA310/15 

1725 Rob Sanders, 

Roper 

  PA310/16 

c1715- 

62 

 Richard Warren, William 

Walters, and Henry Toms 

  

1762-98 William 

Greenwood 

William Walters  PA553/2/1-2; 

BA/A/4/85/1 

  John Denham, Peter 

Clampfield, Thomas Walker, 

Joseph Lewin, Joseph 

Corbett, Thomas Goodall, 

Thomas Brown 

  
PA583/10 

1765-84  Wm Palmer  CCA/2/3/181/20d; 

BA/A/4/85/1 

1798 John Folds (Sen)   PA 553/5/1 

1834 John Folds (Sen)    

1837-77 Folds family of 

Burnley, Lancs 

   

In the later 19th-century, the one frontage was subdivided into two (to become 94-95 Much Park Street) 
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The post-medieval descent of Nos 92-93 Much Park Street 

2.30 This property is best known from a document of 1784, when the plot was described as 

having a 9.5 yard (19ô6ò/ 8.68m) frontage and a measurement from street to Town Wall 

of 65 yards 8 inches (195ô8ò/59. m) (CA: BA/A/4/85/1). The abuttal to the west (94) 

makes it clear that it is no 93 while a list of previous occupiers is helpfully given. The 

dimensions of 1784, transposed to the 1886 1st edition 1:500 scale Ordnance Survey 

map and measured at scale make it clear that the plot at that date covered what would 

become both nos 92 and 93 together, the plot behind the frontage being then divided 

lengthwise to accommodate Court no 21 from before 1851. 

 
2.31 John Bull is potentially the most interesting tenant. In an age when rents did not change 

much (financial crises notwithstanding), his 10s per annum tenancy may relate to the 

sixteenth-century 10s tenancies found in the cityôs muster Rolls of 1522 for Much Park 

Street, of which there were 13 so valued (out of 120 for the entire ward) (Hulton 1999). 

This might not be any more significant, but for the fact that while some of the 13 can 

be immediately ruled out (such as those with clear monastic landlords), one stands out 

from the rest ï Hultonôs entry number 48, tenanted by John Garton, pinner, whose rent 

was in fact 10s per annum - but whose landlord was not stated. Ironically, he is noted 

as being the landlord of the adjacent plot (which in all probability has to be no 94/95 ï 

where the workshop stood), and where John Merlor, weaver apparently also lived, 

paying Garton 6s per annum rent (Hulton 1999, 59). The association of Bull as a 

successor of Gartonôs plot is not compelling but is perhaps possible. 

 
 

Date Owner or lease/ 
chief interest 

Occupier Abuttals Ref 

Nos 92-3     

  Edward Smith  BA/A/4/85/1 

1702  John Bull  PA96/29/1 

1709  John Bull  PA310/8 

1713  John Bull  PA539/1/1; 
BA/A/4/85/1 

1716 Sir Thos Whiteôs 
Charity 

John Bull (10s rent)  Sir Thos Whiteôs 
charity accts 1802, 
App II p179 

  Wm Burney  BA/A/4/85/1 

  Chas Oughton, 

Jack Loverage & 
Edw Pickering 

 BA/A/4/85/1 

1743  William Berry  PA96/29/2 

1761  Edward Berry  PA96/29/3 

1761-84  Edward Berry  BA/A/4/85/1 

1784 Sam Vale and Thos 
Miles 

Thos Jobbet, Wm 
Palmer & John 
Brookes 

Wm Miller @ east 
(no 91), Wm 
Walters @west (no 
94) 

BA/A/4/85/1 

In the later 19th-century, the one frontage was subdivided into two (to become 92-93 Much Park Street) 
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The end of the rowôs history 

2.32 In 1900-1901 the nearby 98-100 Much Park Street were lost as the new Short Street 

was pushed through to link Much Park Street and Parkside, where vast new factories 

were springing up. 

 
2.33 Either side of the creation of the new street, the community along Much Park Street 

appears to be one of solid sufficiency, although the conditions of the court-housing 

behind were probably deteriorating. From 1874 to 1922 Coventry trade directories 

show that the frontage buildings of nos 91-97 Much Park Street supported trading 

premises of a greengrocer (91), a hairdresser or general shop (92), a florist and a 

winder (93), a tobacconist and the town crier (94), a stay-maker (95), and two 

indeterminate shops (96, 97). There was a degree of permanence about the tenancies 

too, with some being very long term, such as Maria Mason, a shopkeeper at number 

97 in 1874, who was still there in 1898 and whose tenancy was continued by her 

daughter Susan right up until 1931. Meanwhile the Courts behind were usually fully 

tenanted with a procession of names. 

 
 

2.34 Successor to the Folds estate, Job Reynolds died in 1905 but in a 1911 recital of his 

will his testators, including the new owner Harry Reynolds listed his estate as 94 and 

95 Much Park Street and (to the rear) Court 22 nos 1-4; also no 5 in said Court with 

garden and appurtenanceséand also that messuage... built upon the said garden and 

fronting Parksideéknown as Carchester Cottage (43 Parkside) (CA: PA1111/7). 

 
2.35 Meanwhile as regards these properties at the far south end of the site, over and against 

the line of the former town wall, an 1891 abstract of title for 41 and 42 Parkside 

indicates the manner in which the 19th-century Court Housing to the rear was put up in 

what had long previously been gardens (CA: PA1111/1). 

óMessuage, garden, outbuildings were erected and built by Thomas Hales on part of a 

garden which formerly extended from MPS in Coventry to the town wall, which 

separated the said garden ground from Coventry Park; which said messuage and 

premises were then known as 16 Park Side (no42), formerly in the occupation of 

Thomas Hales, then of William Hall, afterwards John Gascoigne and then William 

Ward. Also 15 Park Side (no41), formerly in the occupation of Thos Kirby and then of 

Mrs Tipson, then of Mrs Allen.ô 
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Fig 3: Detail from First Edition Ordnance Survey map, sheet XXI.12.17, of 1886 before 
Short Street was built. Parkside is at the foot of the view 
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Fig 4: Detail from Second Edition Ordnance Survey map, sheet XXI.12.17, of 1905 

Short street has removed nos 98-100 and linked to Parkside 

 

19 























































































































































































https://ifeelitinmybones.files.wordpress.com/2016/01/a-skeletal-comparison-of-selected-small-mammals1.pdf
https://ifeelitinmybones.files.wordpress.com/2016/01/a-skeletal-comparison-of-selected-small-mammals1.pdf
https://ifeelitinmybones.files.wordpress.com/2016/01/a-skeletal-comparison-of-selected-small-mammals1.pdf
https://ifeelitinmybones.files.wordpress.com/2016/01/a-skeletal-comparison-of-selected-small-mammals1.pdf








https://oasis.ac.uk/form/index.cfm
https://oasis.ac.uk/form/stats.cfm
https://oasis.ac.uk/form/search.cfm
https://oasis.ac.uk/form/form.cfm
https://oasis.ac.uk/form/details.cfm
https://oasis.ac.uk/form/get_smr_areas.cfm
https://oasis.ac.uk/form/choose_country.cfm
https://oasis.ac.uk/form/logout.cfm?resetme=1




mailto:oasis@HistoricEngland.org.uk
mailto:oasis@ads.ac.uk
http://archaeologydataservice.ac.uk/about/Cookies.xhtml
http://archaeologydataservice.ac.uk/advice/Privacy.xhtml

